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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

 
I. Whether a claim against a fracking company for issuing false 

statements describing its environmental commitments, practices, and 

risks, while simultaneously concealing materially adverse information 

from investors, is actionable, as a matter of law, under Section 10(b) 

of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. 78j(b), and whether that claim 

adequately pleads scienter.  

 

II. Whether the requirement that a person be a culpable participant in 

the primary violation should be read into the elements for control 

person liability under 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a) despite not being included in 

the language of the text.  

 
  



R9 

1 
 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
 

The Teacher Retirement System of Fordham (“TRSF”) and the Fordham 

Municipal Retirement Fund (“FMRF”) brought this class action on behalf of all 

persons who purchased or acquired the common stock of Red River between 

March 2, 2018 and August 2, 2019 (the “Class Period”) against Red River and 

James Wilson for making false and misleading statements and omissions that 

artificially inflated Red River’s stock price. The complaint asserted securities 

fraud claims against Red River pursuant to Section 10(b) of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”), 15 U.S.C. 78j(b) (2010), and Rule 10b-

5, 17 C.F.R. 240.10b-5. The complaint additionally sought to hold James 

Wilson liable under Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a) 

(2010), as a control person. 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

Red River is an oil exploration company that made a name for itself by 

investing massive amounts of capital into the projects that were too risky for 

larger oil companies to pursue. R. 2. During its first thirty years in business, 

Red River was plagued with environmental issues, geological missed calls, and 

destructive oil field fires. R. 2. Still, through its destructive practices and risky 

business strategy, Red River became one of the United States’ largest 

independent oil exploration companies. R. 2. However, in 1985, Houston banks 

determined that Red River was too risky to fund, forcing Red River’s founder, 

James Wilson, to take the company public. R. 2. Red River registered under the 
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Exchange Act and listed its common stock on the New York Stock Exchange 

(“NYSE”). R. 3. Wilson became Red River’s Chief Executive Officer and board 

chairman, and named Pamela Thompson Chief Operating and Environmental 

Officer, and Sandra Grimes Senior Vice President and General Counsel. R. 2-3.  

In the late 1990s, Wilson worried that domestic oil fields could not 

sustain his company’s gluttony for oil and gas. R. 3. As luck would have it, 

Wilson met a geologist who described to him a controversial new process called 

hydraulic fracturing, or “fracking,” which involved drilling wells deep into the 

Earth. R. 3–4. Fracking required drilling horizontally over the underlying shale 

rock after passing through layers of sediment and the water table. R. 4. High-

pressure fluids would then batter the rock to release oil and gas. R. 4. 

Additionally, explosives could be detonated to crack and pulverize the rock, 

making it more permeable for oil transfer. R. 4. Then, millions of gallons of 

chemically tainted, high-pressure fluids would be pumped down to force the 

release of oil and gas. R. 3-4. Despite hesitation from its environmental team, 

and knowing the potential risks relating to air pollution, groundwater toxicity, 

soil contamination, and the destruction of rare species’ habitats, Red River 

went “all in” on fracking. R. 4.  

In 2017, several university geology departments contacted Red River to 

report seismic activity in the Eagle Ford Shale, an area Red River was actively 

fracking. R. 5. At the same time, Red River’s engineers warned Wilson about 

the company’s toxic wastewater storage facilities, which they believed had 
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nearly reached capacity on numerous occasions. R. 5. Both reports were 

ignored. R. 5. Red River addressed environmental risks in its 10-K and 10-Q 

SEC Filings, where it repeatedly emphasized that such events had never 

materially impacted its income or operations. R. 6.  

In January 2018, Wilson emailed Thompson and Grimes complaining 

that Red River’s disclosures focused too much on minor environmental 

mishaps—including seepage of toxic chemicals into groundwater and methane-

related air pollution. R. 5. Wilson felt that these disclosures gave investors the 

impression that Red River was not a good corporate citizen. R. 5. Wilson told 

Thompson and Grimes that moving forward a more positive tone was needed, 

and Red River’s public statements and disclosures were to start emphasizing 

its view on the adequacy of the steps it took to protect the environment, create 

an image of Red River’s commitment to environmental compliance, and tout its 

dedication of resources to this effort. R. 6.  

On March 1, 2018, Red River filed its annual 10-K, which it revised to 

state that, “[t]here is no higher priority than ensuring that our drilling activity 

continues to be conducted in a manner consistent with protecting the 

environment . . . ” and that “[Red River’s] commitment to protecting the 

environment is unwavering and constant.” R. 6. It further stated that it had 

invested in “the latest technology,” and that this investment differentiated Red 

River from its competitors. R. 6. Red River asserted that it “conduct[s] frequent 

environmental practices reviews . . . and devote[s] our most talented personnel 
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and a substantial budget to ensuring protection of the environment.” R. 6. Red 

River concluded by noting that fracking “involves no serious environmental 

issues not associated with conventional drilling.” R. 6.   

In early May, Red River again received reports of seismic activity in the 

Eagle Ford Shale. R. 7. Thompson, aware of reports linking fracking to seismic 

activity, became concerned. R. 7. After meeting with Grimes and Wilson, they 

decided to hire a prominent university geologist to conduct an investigation. R. 

7. However, they decided not to make a public disclosure due to its potential 

effect on Red River’s stock price. R. 7.  

Despite Wilson’s knowledge of these ongoing issues, on May 15th, he 

attended an investor conference where he bragged to major institutional 

investors, securities analysts, and industry groups that, “a major 

environmental event has about a zero percent chance of occurring on [Red 

River] property.” R. 7. Wilson told investors that “[Red River] just pay[s] too 

much attention for that to happen.” R. 7.  

On May 28, Red River once again received calls regarding seismic activity 

in the Eagle Ford Shale. R. 7. Thompson and Grimes, aware of Wilson’s 

aggressive statements at the investor conference, again decided not to publicly 

disclose the reports. R. 7. On June 1st, Red River filed a Form 10-Q, which 

included a new boilerplate disclosure stating that its “operations could be 

subject to disruption by natural disasters beyond [Red River’s] control[.]” R. 7-

8. Over the next week, after being encouraged by the statements made by 
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Wilson and Red River, TRSF and FMRF collectively purchased $58 million in 

Red River Common Stock. R. 8.  

On June 10th, in an environmental disaster so severe that it made 

international news, a series of seismic shocks rocked the Eagle Ford Shale 

destroying Red River’s toxic wastewater storage site. R. 8. Millions of gallons of 

chemically tainted wastewater mixed into the West Texas groundwater and 

polluted regional aquifers. R. 8. By market close, Red River common stock had 

plummeted 25%. R. 8.  

Investigations were launched by federal and state environmental 

agencies which revealed that Red River had used excessive amounts of 

explosives and that the fracking process was the proximate cause of the 

wastewater escaping the storage site. R. 8. The environmental agencies also 

concluded that Red River’s wastewater storage tanks were filled beyond 

recommended capacity. R. 8. TRSF and FRMF filed this suit seeking to hold 

Red River and James Wilson liable for their fraudulent conduct. R. 8.  

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

When reviewing a Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) motion to 

dismiss a Section 10(b) claim, courts must accept all factual allegations in the 

complaint as true. Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 

322 (2007). Dismissal is inappropriate unless the plaintiff’s complaint fails to 

state a claim to relief that is plausible. Zucco Partners, LLC v. Digimarc Corp., 

552 F.3d 981, 989 (9th Cir. 2009). Motions to dismiss are reviewed de novo. Id. 
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Respondents adequately pleaded facts to support a Section 10(b) claim 

against Red River. Red River made numerous false and misleading statements 

and omissions regarding its fracking business. However, in reality, it was 

engaging in excessive blasting, concealing numerous reports of seismic activity 

at its fracking cites from investors, and disregarding its engineers concerns 

about its toxic wastewater storage facility. Petitioners filed a motion to dismiss, 

arguing that their statements are inactionable as a matter of law. That is not 

the case, as none of their statements fall under any of the exemptions 

recognized by courts, including puffery, corporate mismanagement, or the safe 

harbor provision.  

Additionally, the complaint alleges a litany of facts that, taken 

collectively, give rise to a strong inference of scienter. From these facts, a 

reasonable person could infer that the petitioners acted intentionally, or at 

least severely reckless, when issuing their false statements. Thus, respondents’ 

complaint pleads sufficient facts to survive a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. 

 Because Respondents adequately pleaded a primary violation under Rule 

10b-5, their claim under Section 20(a) is also valid. This is because plainly 

disregarding the text of a statute is anathema to this Court’s jurisprudence on 

statutory interpretation, so a “culpable participant” standard under Section 

20(a) of the Exchange Act should not be incorporated into alleging a claim. 

First, forcing that requirement on a plaintiff in the pleadings stage directly 
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contradicts the language written by Congress, renders nearly a third of the 

statute redundant, and adds a requirement specifically omitted during the 

drafting of the bill. Second, not only does a “culpable participant” requirement 

not accomplish Congress’ goals any better than the affirmative defense written 

into Section 20(a), but it also directly contradicts the Legislature’s intention 

when drafting both the Exchange Act and Section 20(a).  

ARGUMENT 

I. RED RIVER MADE MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENTS AND 
MISLEADING OMISSIONS THAT ARE ACTIONABLE UNDER 15 
U.S.C. 78j(b).  

This Court has acknowledged that a fundamental purpose of the Exchange 

Act was to “substitute a philosophy of full disclosure for the philosophy of 

caveat emptor and thus to achieve a high standard of business ethics.” Basic 

Inc. v. Levinson, 458 U.S. 224, 234 (1998). SEC Rule 10b-5, promulgated by 

the SEC under Section 10(b), makes it unlawful “to make any untrue statement 

of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make 

the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were 

made, not misleading.” 17 C.F.R. 240.10b-5(b). To be actionable under Section 

10(b) and Rule 10b-5, a plaintiff must allege that there was a false statement or 

misleading omission that was material and that the defendant acted with 

scienter. See Stoneridge Inv. Partners, LLC v. Scientific-Atlanta, Inc., 552 U.S. 

148, 157 (2008). The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (PSLRA), 

15 U.S.C. 78u-4(b)(2), requires plaintiffs to allege facts with particularity that 
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give rise to a strong inference of scienter. Lordman v. US Unwired, Inc., 565 

F.3d 228, 252 (5th Cir. 2009). 

The complaint adequately pleads facts with particularity that show Red 

River and its executives, including CEO James Wilson, made numerous false 

and misleading statements and omissions regarding the safety of Red River’s 

operations, its environmental practices, and its commitment to the 

environment. These misstatements and omissions deceived shareholders about 

material information relating to the risks associated with an investment in Red 

River and caused Red River’s stock to trade at artificially inflated prices. 

Petitioners contend that their fraudulent conduct is inactionable as a matter 

of law. First, they argue that their statements were puffery. However, this 

argument is without merit, because a reasonable investor would have relied on 

the petitioners’ statements to reflect the current state of affairs at Red River. 

Second, petitioners argue that their statements are inactionable corporate 

mismanagement. This contention also fails, because Red River made deliberate 

misrepresentations that deceived its investors. Finally, petitioners allege that 

their statements were forward looking statements that fall under the PSLRA’s 

safe harbor provision. Contrary to this assertion, petitioners’ statements 

represented present and historical facts.  

Additionally, the complaint alleges facts with particularity that give rise to a 

strong inference of scienter. Given petitioners’ knowledge of what was actually 

occurring at Red River, a reasonable person could infer that the petitioners 
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knowingly and intentionally misled investors when making their misstatements 

and omissions. At a minimum, Red River and its executives acted severely 

reckless when issuing these false and misleading statements and omissions, 

while simultaneously turning a blind eye to numerous environmental risks. 

Therefore, the Circuit Court correctly held that the complaint pleads sufficient 

facts to survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. 

A. Red River Misled Investors By Touting A False Commitment To 
Environmental Safety While Actively Concealing Environmental 
Risks. 

“To prevail on a Section 10(b) claim, a plaintiff must show that the 

defendant made a statement that was ‘misleading as to a material fact.’” 

Matrixx Initiatives, Inc. v. Siracusano, 563 U.S. 27, 38 (2011) (quoting Basic, 

458 U.S. at 238). A statement is misleading if a reasonable investor would have 

received a false impression from the statement. Freudenberg v. E*Trade Fin. 

Corp., 712 F. Supp. 2d 171, 180 (S.D.N.Y. 2010). When a corporation chooses 

to make a disclosure or statement—whether voluntary or required—there is a 

duty to make it complete and accurate. In re Banco Bradesco S.A. Sec. Litig., 

277 F. Supp. 3d. 600, 631 (S.D.N.Y. 2017). Moreover, “half-truths”—

statements that are "literally true" but "create a materially misleading 

impression"—may support a securities fraud claim. Bricklayers & Masons Loc. 

Union No. 5 Ohio Pension Fund v. Transocean, Ltd., 866 F. Supp. 2d 223, 243 

(S.D.N.Y. 2012) (quoting S.E.C. v. Gabelli, 653 F.3d 49, 57 (2d Cir. 2011)). 

Red River mislead investors by making public statements touting its 

environmental commitments and practices. Red River assured investors it had 
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“no higher priority” than its environmental commitment, that it “conduct[ed] 

frequent environmental practice reviews,” that it “invested in and adop[ted] the 

latest technology,” and that fracking “involve[s] no serious environmental 

issues not associated with conventional drilling.” See app. A [hereinafter Stmt.]. 

Wilson took it further, bragging to major institutional investors, securities 

analysts, and industry groups that there was a “zero percent chance” of a 

major environmental event happening on Red River property because Red River 

“just pay[s] too much attention for that to happen.” Stmt. 7. These statements 

left investors with a misleading impression, causing Red River’s stock to trade 

at an artificially inflated price. 

In reality, Red River was actively engaging in excessive blasting in its 

fracking operations. R. 8. Red River was also concealing from its investors 

numerous reports of seismic activity at its fracking sites that it had received 

from geologists over a period of several months. Further, Wilson was 

consciously disregarding the concerns of Red River’s engineers, who believed 

that the toxic wastewater storage facility had come close to reaching capacity 

on numerous occasions. Given Red River’s knowledge of the potential 

environmental risks it was facing, the statements alleged in the complaint were 

false or misleading at the time they were made. See Nursing Home Pension 

Fund, Loc. 144 v. Oracle Corp., 380 F.3d 1226, 1230 (9th Cir. 2004) (stating 

that the most direct way to show a statement was false when made is via 

contemporaneous reports or data available to the party contradicting the 

statement).  
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Further, in Meyer v. Jinkosolar Holdings Co., Ltd., the court held that a 

complaint sufficiently alleged that the defendant’s disclosure warnings about 

the financial risks faced by the company from environmental violations were 

misleading because they failed to disclose ongoing environmental and pollution 

violations and would cause an overly optimistic assessment of the risks posed 

by a reasonable investor. 761 F.3d 245, 251 (2d Cir. 2014). Similarly, Red River 

misled investors when issuing its June 1st, 2018 10-Q, which included a 

boilerplate disclosure that stated, “[Red River’s] operations could be subject to 

disruption by natural disasters beyond our control, including . . . 

earthquakes[.]” Stmt. 8 (emphasis added). However, Red River had already 

received numerous reports of seismic activity at the Eagle Ford Shale and was 

aware of reports linking fracking to seismic activity. 

B. Red River’s Environmental Disclosures Were Material Because They 
Would Have Been Significantly Important To A Reasonable Investor 
While Red River Was Actively Engaged In Fracking.  
 

To be actionable, a misleading statement or omission must also be material. 

Ong v. Chipotle Mexican Grill, Inc., 294 F. Supp. 3d 199, 227 (S.D.N.Y. 2018). 

“The materiality requirement poses a very low burden; ‘a complaint may not 

properly be dismissed . . . on the ground that the alleged misstatements or 

omissions are not material unless they are so obviously unimportant to a 

reasonable investor that reasonable minds could not differ on the question of 

their importance.’” Freudenberg, 712 F. Supp. 2d at 181 (quoting Ganino v. 

Citizens Utils. Co., 288 F.3d 154, 162 (2d Cir. 2000)); see also In re The 

Warnaco Grp., Inc. Sec. Litig. (II), 388 F. Supp. 2d 307, 313 (S.D.N.Y. 2005) 
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(stating that it is generally inappropriate to determine materiality at the 

pleading stage of litigation). To be material, there must be a substantial 

likelihood that disclosure of the omitted facts would have been viewed by a 

reasonable investor as having significantly altered the total mix of information 

available. Basic, 485 U.S. at 231–32 (quoting TSC Indus., Inc. v. Northway, Inc., 

426 U.S. 438, 449 (1976)). 

A reasonable investor would place great importance on Red River’s 

statements regarding potential environmental risks. During Red River’s first 

thirty years in business, it faced a series of environmental problems, geological 

missed calls, and destructive oil field fires. These environmental risks were so 

important to Houston banks that they decided to cut off funding for Red River.  

Today, Red River is engaged in fracking, a notoriously risky industry. See 

Bricklayers and Masons Local Union, 866 F. Supp. 2d at 244 (holding that 

statements regarding a drilling company’s safety programs were material 

because, in an industry as dangerous as drilling, investors would be greatly 

concerned about an operator’s safety efforts). Further, in In re Massey Energy 

Co. Sec. Litig., the court held that a mining company’s statements touting its 

commitment to safety were material. 883 F. Supp. 2d 597, 614–15 (S.D.W. Va. 

2012). Similarly, Red River’s statements touting the safety of its operations, its 

environmental practices, and its commitment to the environment are material.   
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1. Statements relied on by investors to accurately reflect a 
company’s current environmental risks are not puffery. 

 
The petitioners’ contention that their statements regarding the safety of 

Red River’s operations and its environmental practices are inactionable puffery 

defies both the definition of puffery and common sense. As an initial matter, 

courts must exercise great caution in deeming a statement puffery at the 

motion to dismiss stage, because materiality entails a fact-intensive 

assessment that is better left to the jury. Bricklayers & Masons Local Union, 

866 F. Supp. 2d at 233 (S.D.N.Y. 2012). Whether a misrepresentation is puffery 

depends on the context in which it is made. In re Petrobras Sec. Litig., 116 

F.Supp.3d 368, 381 (S.D.N.Y. 2015). Puffery is defined as an optimistic 

statement so vague, broad, and non-specific that a reasonable investor would 

not rely on it. ECA, Loc. 134 IBEW Joint Pension Tr. of Chi. v. JP Morgan Chase 

Co., 553 F.3d 187, 206 (2d Cir. 2009). 

Investors relied on Red River’s statements to accurately reflect its current 

state of affairs. See In re Petrobras Sec. Litig., 116 F. Supp. 3d at 381. These 

statements were the only way investors could obtain information regarding the 

safety of Red River’s operations. Red River made numerous statements to the 

investing public assuring them that it was committed to environmental safety. 

Ultimately, investors learned that those statements were false as an 

environmental disaster that made international news sent their Red River stock 

plummeting by 25% in a single day. Therefore, it cannot be said, as a matter of 

law, that Red River’s statements were puffery.  
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Additionally, even if statements are deemed puffery, they are still 

actionable if the speaker has no reasonable basis for believing the statement or 

is aware of undisclosed facts tending to seriously undermine the statements 

accuracy. In re Dura Pharm., Inc. Sec. Litig., 452 F. Supp. 2d 1005, 1033 (S.D. 

Cal. 2006). Statements of general corporate optimism are also actionable when 

they are worded as guarantees. See IBEW Loc. Union No. 58 Pension Tr. Fund 

And Annuity Fund v. Royal Bank of Scotland, 783 F.3d 383, 392 (2d. Cir. 2015). 

Similarly, when a company closely aligns their commitment to safety with their 

productivity and success as a company, statements regarding their 

commitment to safety are actionable. See In re Massey, 883 F. Supp. 2d at 618. 

Red River had no reasonable basis for telling investors that “[f]racking 

involves no serious environmental issues not associated with conventional 

drilling” or that its operations could be subject to natural disasters including 

earthquakes. Stmts. 5, 8. Since Red River opened its first fracking well, Wilson, 

Thompson, and Grimes have argued vigorously over public disclosures because 

“[f]racking brought with it environmental concerns related to air pollution, 

groundwater and soil contamination, and destruction of rare species’ habitats.” 

R. 4. Further, Red River was aware of undisclosed facts, including reports 

linking fracking to seismic activity and reports of seismic activity in the Eagle 

Ford Shale, which undermined the accuracy of its statements. Additionally, 

Wilson guaranteed Red River’s investors that there was a zero percent chance 

of an environmental event happening on Red River property. Stmt. 7. Red River 

also linked its environmental commitments and practices to its success when it 
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emphasized in its SEC filings that a major environmental event had never 

impacted its operations and that its investments in technology differentiated it 

from its competitors. Stmt. 4. Therefore, petitioners’ statements are actionable.  

2. Corporate mismanagement does not protect managers who 
make affirmative statements that deceive shareholders. 
 

When management makes affirmative misrepresentations that deceive 

shareholders, those statements are actionable under federal securities laws. 

See Suez Equity Investors, L.P. v. Toronto-Dominion Bank, 250 F.3d 87, 99 (2d 

Cir. 2001). Moreover, when a claim alleges deception related to corporate 

mismanagement—and not mismanagement alone—it is actionable. 

Freudenberg, 712 F. Supp. 2d at 192; see also In re Donna Karan Int’l Sec. 

Litig., No. 97-CV-2011, 1998 WL 637547 at *10 (1998) (stating that even if 

allegations involve deception related to corporate mismanagement, they may 

still be actionable under Section 10(b)). 

Far from a post-hoc critique of management decisions, respondents’ 

complaint alleges that Red River and James Wilson made public statements 

that deceived shareholders while knowingly concealing information that 

contradicted their statements. Petitioners attempt to misconstrue this Court’s 

holding in Santa Fe Industries, Inc. v. Green, by alleging that their statements 

are inactionable corporate mismanagement. 430 U.S. 462 (1977). However, 

that case only stated that federal securities laws were not meant to cover state 

law breach of fiduciary duty claims. Id. Thus, because Red River made 
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affirmative statements that deceived shareholders, respondents’ allegations are 

actionable.   

3. The PSLRA’s safe harbor provision does not apply to Red 
River’s statements because they misrepresented present and 
historical facts and were not accompanied by meaningful 
cautionary language. 

 
The PSLRA’s safe harbor provision provides that forward-looking 

statements cannot be the basis for a securities fraud claim if: (1) the statement 

is identified as forward looking and is accompanied by sufficient cautionary 

statements; or (2) the person who made the forward-looking statement did so 

without actual knowledge that the statement was false or misleading. See In re 

Dura Pharm., Inc. 452 F. Supp. 2d at 1033 (“[I]t is appropriate to consider the 

application of the bespeaks caution doctrine and safe harbor provision 

simultaneously.”). Red River’s fraudulent statements and omissions were not 

forward-looking, but rather represented present or historical facts. Statements 

such as “[o]ur commitment to the environment is demonstrated . . . ,” 

“continues to be conducted in a manner . . . ,” and “[w]e just pay too much 

attention for that to happen” discuss actions that Red River had supposedly 

already taken. Stmt. 4 (emphasis added); Stmt. 2 (emphasis added); Stmt. 7. 

Therefore, these statements represent present and historical facts and are not 

protected by the PSLRA’s safe harbor provision. 

Further, even if the statements were forward looking, they were not 

accompanied by any “meaningful cautionary language” as required by the 

PSLRA. 15 U.S.C. § 78u-5(c)(1)(A)(i).  The requirement for meaningful 
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cautionary language “calls for substantive company-specific warnings based on 

a realistic description of the risks applicable to the particular circumstances.” 

Southland Sec. Corp. v. INSpire Ins. Solutions, Inc., 365 F.3d 353, 372 (5th Cir. 

2004). Generic disclaimers and boilerplate warnings do not amount to 

meaningful cautionary language. See Lormand v. US Unwired, Inc. 565 F.3d 

228, 244 (5th Cir. 2009) (holding that warnings that statements were “not 

guarantees of future performance” and involved known and unknown risks 

that could cause actual results to be materially different were not meaningful 

cautionary language); see also Plotkin v. IP Axess, Inc., 407 F.3d 690, 694 (5th 

Cir. 2005). 

Red River repeatedly emphasized in its quarterly disclosures that 

environmental risks had never materially impacted Red River’s income or 

operations. R. 4. The only disclosure made by Red River was a boilerplate 

warning in its 10-Q filing, stating that, “[Red River’s] operations could be 

subject to disruption by natural disasters beyond our control[.]” Stmt. 8. 

Because these disclosures do not amount to meaningful cautionary language, 

Red River cannot invoke the safe harbor provision. 

C. The Inference That Red River Acted Either Intentionally Or With 
Severe Recklessness Is At Least As Compelling As Any Opposing 
Inference; Therefore, The Complaint Adequately Alleges Scienter. 
 
The inference that Red River acted either intentionally or with severe 

recklessness is at least as compelling as any opposing inference. To establish 

liability under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, the PLSRA requires a complaint to 
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allege facts with particularity that give rise to a strong inference that the 

defendant acted with an intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud, or severe 

recklessness. See In re Banco Bardesco, 277 F.Supp.3d at 664; see also 

Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 318 n.3 (“Every Court of Appeals that has considered the 

issue has held that a plaintiff may meet the scienter requirement by showing 

that the defendant acted intentionally or recklessly.”). Scienter requires the 

court to review all of the allegations holistically. Matrixx, 563 U.S. at 48. If a 

reasonable person could deem the inference of scienter at least as plausible as 

any opposing inference drawn from the facts alleged, a complaint adequately 

pleads scienter. Id. See also ACA Fin. Guar. Corp. v. Advest, Inc., 512 F.3d 46, 

59 (1st Cir. 2008) (“Tellabs now awards the draw to the plaintiff.”). 

In Matrixx, the court found that the complaint adequately alleged 

scienter when Matrixx was concerned enough by adverse information to hire a 

consultant to review its product but elected not to disclose the information to 

the public because it understood its likely effect on the market. 563 U.S. at 49. 

Similarly, Thompson, Grimes, and Wilson intentionally decided not to publicly 

disclose that Red River had received multiple reports of seismic activity 

because of its potential impact on the price of Red River stock. R. 7. However, 

Red River was concerned enough to hire a prominent university geologist to 

investigate. R. 7. This supports a strong inference that Red River and its key 

executive officers were well aware of the potential environmental risks faced by 

the company but intentionally concealed the information from investors. 



R9 

19 
 

Further, under the core operations theory, scienter may be imputed 

“based on the inference that key officers have knowledge of the core operations 

of the company.” Mulligan v. Impax Labs., Inc., 36 F. Supp. 3d 942, 969 (N.D. 

Cal. 2014). Throughout the Class Period, Red River was using excessive 

amounts of explosives during its fracking operations. Red River’s key officers 

should have had knowledge of this. Still, Red River repeatedly released 

statements regarding the minimal risk of an environmental event.   

Additionally, “recklessly turning a blind eye to impropriety” is culpable 

conduct under Rule 10b-5. See In re VeriFone Holdings, Inc. Sec. Litig., 704 

F.3d 694, 708 (9th Cir. 2012); see also In re New Century, 588 F. Supp. 2d 

1206, 1234 (C.D. Cal. 2008) (explaining that the absence of a meaningful 

investigation in the face of red flags supports a strong inference of scienter). 

James Wilson, on behalf of Red River, attended an investor conference where 

he bragged to institutional investors, securities analysts, and industry groups 

that a major environmental event had a zero percent chance of occurring on 

Red River property because Red River just paid too much attention for that to 

happen. Stmt. 7. At this time, Wilson was not only aware of reports of seismic 

activity at the Eagle Ford Shale but was also personally disregarding the 

concerns of Red River’s engineers about its toxic wastewater storage facility. 

Wilson’s failure to investigate, in and of itself, is enough to show that he acted 

with the required level of scienter. In fact, later investigations by environmental 

agencies revealed that Red River’s wastewater storage tanks were filled beyond 

recommended capacity, confirming its engineer’s prior concerns. Wilson acted 
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at least deliberately reckless in ignoring the falsity of his statements in light of 

the contrary reports he had received. 

 Moreover, “[t]emporal proximity of an allegedly fraudulent statement or 

omissions and a later disclosure can be circumstantial evidence of scienter.” 

Reese v. Malone, 747 F.3d 557, 574 (9th Cir. 2014); see also Berson v. Applied 

Signal Tech., Inc., 527 F.3d 982, 988 n.5 (9th Cir. 2008) (holding that SEC 

disclosure two weeks after a misleading statement bolsters the inference that 

defendants had knowledge when they made the statement). On May 28th, Red 

River received additional calls from geologists reporting seismic activity at the 

Eagle Ford Shale. On June 1st, Red River added a disclose to its 10-Q, stating 

that Red River’s operations could be subject to earthquakes. Stmt. 8. The 

proximity of these events further bolsters the inference that Red River was 

aware of the potential environmental risks it faced. Considering all of the facts 

holistically, the inference that Red River acted either intentionally or with 

severe recklessness is at least as compelling as any opposing inference.  

II. FORCING PLAINTIFFS TO PLEAD CULPABLE PARTICIPATION IS 
NOT A REQUIRED ELEMENT OF A CONTROL PERSON LIABILITY 
CLAIM BECAUSE IT RUNS DIRECTLY COUNTER TO BOTH THE 
TEXT OF THE STATUTE AND THE LEGISLATURE'S INTENT. 
 

Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act provides that “[e]very person who, 

directly or indirectly, controls any person liable under . . . any rule or 

regulation [of this title] shall also be liable jointly and severally . . . unless the 

controlling person acted in good faith . . . .” 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a)(emphasis 

added); see also Hollinger v. Titan Capital Corp., 914 F.2d 1564, 1578 (9th Cir. 
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1990) (“Although § 15 is not identical to § 20(a), the controlling person analysis 

is the same.”). This act protects the innocent investor from those who intend to 

use straw parties, subsidiaries, or agents to skirt the boundaries of securities 

law. See Laperriere v. Vesta Ins. Grp., Inc., 526 F.3d 715, 721 (11th Cir. 2008) 

(per curiam). Finding “control person” liability is the product of a two-part test. 

See Lustgraaf v. Behrens, 619 F.3d 867, 873 (8th Cir. 2010). First, the plaintiff 

must plead a primary violation by a controlled person, and second, they must 

show control of the primary violator by the defendant. See id. The burden then 

shifts to the defendant to show good faith. Id. at 874. This test has been used 

in majority of the circuit courts. See e.g., Harrison v. Dean Witter Reynolds, 

Inc., 974 F.2d 873, 880 (7th Cir. 1992); Metge v. Baehler, 762 F.2d 621, 631 

(8th Cir. 1985); Brown v. Enstar Grp., Inc., 84 F.3d 393, 396-397 (11th Cir. 

1996). 

Despite this widespread Circuit agreement, the Second and Third 

Circuits have erroneously added a third aspect, the “culpable participation” 

element. See e.g., Carpenters Pension Tr. Fund of St. Louis v. Barclays PLC, 750 

F.3d 227, 236 (2d Cir. 2014); Belmont v. MB Inv. Partners, Inc., 708 F.3d 470, 

484 (3d Cir. 2013). This requires a plaintiff to show that the control-person 

actually participated in the alleged violation. See Rochez Bros., Inc. v. Rhoades, 

527 F.2d 880, 890 (3d Cir. 1975); see also Gordon v. Burr, 506 F.2d 1080, 1086 

(2d Cir. 1974). However, the inclusion of this element violates the canons of 

statutory interpretation promulgated by this Court and counters the intent of 

the legislature in drafting Section 20(a). Therefore, it should be abolished.  
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A. The Addition Of A Culpability Requirement Violates This Court’s 
Established Standards Of Statutory Interpretation. 
 

  This Court has historically interpreted statutes following a specific order: 

initially look to the plain language of the text for guidance and, if that proves 

ambiguous, the legislative history, or intent, next. See Conn. Nat’l Bank v. 

Germain, 503 U.S. 249, 253-254 (1992). In the present case, the presiding 

Circuit Court correctly upheld this order by reversing the District of Fordham 

for three reasons. First, the plain language of Section 20(a) unambiguously 

calls for a good faith defense by an alleged control person. Second, the 

inclusion of a culpability requirement would render that explicit “good faith 

defense” in Section 20(a) superfluous, violating applicable canons of statutory 

interpretation. Lastly, the presence of scienter elsewhere in the Exchange Act 

shows Congress’ intent to omit a culpability requirement for Section 20(a). 

1. The text of Section 20(a) explicitly includes a good-faith affirmative 
defense rather than requiring the plaintiff to plead culpability. 
 
“We begin, as always, with the language of the statute.” Duncan v. 

Walker, 533 U.S. 167, 172 (2001). This has been the Court’s century-long 

motto for interpreting statutes written by our legislature. See e.g., Williams v. 

Taylor, 529 U.S. 420, 431 (2000); United States v. Ron Pair Enter., 489 U.S. 

235, 241 (1989); Watt v. Energy Action Educ. Found., 454 U.S. 151, 162 (1981). 

Under this guiding principle, when “[g]iven [a] straightforward statutory 

command, there is no reason to resort to legislative history.” United States v. 

Gonzalez, 520 U.S. 1, 6 (1997). This is because “courts must presume that a 

legislature says in a statute what it means and means in a statute what it says 
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there.” Germain, 503 U.S. at 253-254. Further, in deciphering what has been 

written, “[w]e give the words of a statute their ordinary, contemporary, common 

meaning, absent an indication Congress intended them to bear some different 

import.” Williams, 529 U.S. at 431 (internal quotations omitted). Considering 

this policy, a culpability requirement is not found in Section 20(a). 

Here we must begin with the text. The plain language of Section 20(a) 

applies liability on “every person” who controls a violating party absent a 

showing of good faith. 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a). Merriam-Webster’s Dictionary defines 

the word “every” as “being each individual or part of a group without exception.” 

Every, MERRIAM-WEBSTER’S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY (11th ed. 2007). Because 

“every” is unambiguous, it extends the liability of Section 20(a) to all people in 

a position of control, without exception. Continuing with the next clause, the 

statute calls for joint and several liability, “unless the controlling person acted 

in good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce the act . . . .” 15 U.S.C. § 

78t(a).  “Unless” is defined as “except on the condition that.” Unless, MERRIAM-

WEBSTER’S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY (11th ed. 2007). Therefore, Section 20(a) 

extends liability to “each individual” controlling person, “except on the 

condition that” they establish good faith. Further evidence supporting this is 

found in the title of Section 20(a), “Joint and Several Liability; good faith 

defense,” indicating the Section’s purpose as an affirmative defense. 15 U.S.C. 

§ 78t(a) (emphasis added).  
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2. Adopting the culpable participant requirement would impermissibly 
render the good-faith provision of Section 20(a) meaningless. 
 
Continuing with the language of the law, this Court should interpret 

Section 20(a) in a way that makes the entire statute relevant. This is one of the 

duties of the Supreme Court – giving effect to every clause and word of a law. 

United States v. Menasche, 348 U.S. 528, 538-39 (1955). Granting each word 

power saves the language of the text, rather than destroying it. See N.L.R.B. v. 

Jones & Laughlin Steel Corp., 301 U.S. 1, 30 (1937) (discussing the Court’s 

desire to interpret acts to be valid and relevant). Thus, this Court has 

historically been “reluct[ant] to treat statutory terms as surplusage.” Babbitt v. 

Sweet Home Chapter of Cmtys. For a Great Or., 515 U.S. 687, 698 (1995). 

For example, in Duncan v. Walker this Court held that interpreting 

“State” to mean both state and federal collateral review in the Federal Habeas 

Corpus statute was improper as it would render the word meaningless. 

Duncan, 533 U.S. at 176. Again, in Board of Trustees of the Leland Stanford 

Junior University v. Roche Molecular Systems, Inc., this Court protected the 

term “inventions of the contractor” in the Bayh-Dole Act from becoming 

obsolete by stopping the expansion of the language to cover multiple people. 

563 U.S. 776, 788 (2011). Affirming the lower court would further uphold this 

principle. 

The addition of a culpable participant element in Section 20(a) would 

create a redundancy in the same way as in Roche. Since the language of 

Section 20(a) would have the defendant establish good faith, the culpability 

requirement would create a situation where once a plaintiff has proven 
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culpable participation a defendant would be unable to prove good faith or lack 

of inducement. In re Parmalat Sec. Litig., 375 F. Supp. 2d 278, 308 n.200 

(S.D.N.Y. 2005) (citations omitted). This would effectively neuter twenty-six of 

the seventy-six-word long statute. Because of this, rejecting the culpability 

requirement would better maintain the entirety of the language. 

3. The exclusion of explicit language regarding scienter in Section 
20(a) shows that Congress did not intend a culpable participant 
requirement or the application of PSLRA’s heightened standards. 
 
Returning to the text, Congress’ exclusion of a culpable participant 

requirement in Section 20(a) was purposeful. In Russello v. United States, this 

Court wrote, “where Congress includes particular language in one section of a 

statute but omits it in another section of the same Act, it is generally presumed 

that Congress acts intentionally and purposely in the disparate inclusion or 

exclusion.” 464 U.S. 16, 23 (1983). This was the case in Department of 

Homeland Security v. Maclean, where this Court tackled the scope of 

whistleblower protections. 135 S. Ct. 913, 919 (2015). Citing Russello, the 

Court held that disclosures prohibited by “regulations” are not also prohibited 

by “law” under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8)(A) (2014) (current version at 5 U.S.C. § 

2302(b)(8)(A) (2017)). Id. Since Congress had “repeatedly used the phrase ‘law, 

rule or regulation’” throughout the statute, but had only used the word “law” in 

the section at issue, rules and regulations were not included. Id. Similarly, in 

Section 20(a), the omission of a scienter requirement omits scienter. 

Assessing the present case, there is no need to look further than the 

primary violation alleged to find where Congress drafted culpability into the 
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Exchange Act. The requirement of scienter in Section 10(b), “acting in 

contravention of the rules,” is explicitly stated. 15 U.S.C. 78j(b). That is not the 

case in Section 20(a), which has no mention of scienter or language that would 

suggest it. This omission was intended, so it must be protected under Russello.  

Additionally, because scienter was excluded from Section 20(a), there is 

no need to plead culpable participation with particularity under PSLRA. To say 

otherwise would effectively be rewriting Congress’ omission, violating the 

structure of the United States Constitution. See Puerto Rico v. Franklin Cal. 

Tax-Free Tr., 136 S. Ct. 1938, 1949 (2016) (citing Dodd v. United States, 545 

U.S. 353, 359 (2005)). 

B. Allowing The Culpable Participation Requirement To Keep Plaintiffs’ 
Alleging Control Person Liability From Stating A Claim Would Mar 
Both The Intent Of The Legislature In Passing Section 20(a) And The 
Administration Of Justice.  
 

Disregarding this Court’s warnings that legislative history “only muddies 

the waters” of statutory interpretation, Gonzalez, 520 U.S. at 6, the Second and 

Third Circuits have attempted to circumnavigate the text through the use of 

legislative history. To do so, they assert that the intent of Section 20(a) is to 

“impose liability only on those directors who… are in some meaningful sense 

culpable participants . . . .” Lanza v. Drexel & Co., 479 F.2d 1277, 1299 (2d Cir. 

1973). While this is true, their chosen means to this end is distorted on two 

grounds. First, the stated legislative history used in Lanza was read in a way 

that limited the actual scope of its purpose; however, both that and the true 

intent surrounding Section 20(a) are better met through the majority view. 
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Second, the culpable participant element places an unjust burden on plaintiffs 

at the dismissal phase, contradicting Congress’ intent for the Exchange Act. 

1. Using a good-faith defense rather than a culpable participant 
standard better reaches the goals Congress had for Section 20(a). 
 

By enacting Section 20(a) Congress intended to correct the “dangerous and 

unreliable system of depending upon dummy directors” that allowed corrupt 

directors to avoid liability. Laperriere 526 F.3d at 721 (internal quotations 

omitted). As per the House report accompanying the Act, they sought to hold 

abusive directors accountable by “making ‘a person who controls a person 

subject to the act . . . liable to the same extent as the person controlled unless 

the controlling person acted in good faith.’” Id. at 721-22 (quoting H.R. Rep. No. 

73-1383, at 26 (1934)). While the use of an affirmative defense reaches these 

goals, the minority’s additional pleading requirement would allow guilty 

directors to avoid court. 

 The misstep allowing this began with Lanza v. Drexel and Co., where the 

Second Circuit, in dicta, conjured up Section 20(a)’s culpable participant 

element from a general view of statute. See Lanza, 479 F.2d at 1299. The Third 

Circuit then incorporated this in Rochez Brothers, Inc. v. Rhoades. 527 F.2d 

880, 885 (3d Cir. 1975). The Rhoades court supported the culpable participant 

element by writing, “Congress [intended] to impose liability on those who were 

controlling persons and who were in some meaningful sense culpable 

participants in the fraud perpetrated by controlled persons.” Id. (internal 

quotations omitted). However, that is not the full breadth of the story. Despite 

what was said in Lanza, the Second Circuit also observed that “the ‘controlling 
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person’ provision of Section 20(a) . . . was enacted to expand rather than to 

restrict the scope of liability under the securities laws.” Marbury Mgmt. Inc. v. 

Kohn, 629 F.2d 705, 712 (2d Cir. 1980). Therefore, in Marbury Management 

Inc. v. Kohn the court rejected the culpable participant standard suggested in 

Lanza. Id. at 716.  

These two views form a split within the Second Circuit, with one line of 

cases following Kohn and the other following Lanza and its subsequent 

establishment in SEC v. First Jersey Securities, Inc., 101 F.3d 1450, 1472 (2d 

Cir. 1996) (drawing the first two elements of proving Section 20(a) liability from 

Kohn and the culpable participant standard from Lanza). This has caused 

district courts in the Second Circuit to rebuke the culpable participant 

standard. See Lapin v. Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc., 506 F. Supp. 2d 221, 245 

(S.D.N.Y 2006); see also In re Parmalat, 375 F. Supp. 2d at 309. Those courts 

contest that the affirmative defense in Section 20(a) fulfills the same purpose 

as the culpable participant standard – only imposing liability on directors who 

cannot produce a good faith excuse. See In re Parmalat, 375 F. Supp. 2d at 

309. Further, an affirmative defense stops those who cannot prove good faith 

from avoiding litigation outright. As both means reach the same end, the 

majority view should be preferred as it is in-line with the text.  

2. Applying the culpable participant element at the dismissal stage 
unduly burdens plaintiffs and runs contrary to Congress’ intent in 
enacting Section 20(a). 
 

At the root of Section 20(a) is the underlying history of the Exchange Act. 

Following the stock market crash prior to the Great Depression, Congress 
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sought to restore confidence in the U.S. securities market. See Erin L. Massey, 

Control Person Liability Under Section 20(a): Striking a Balance of Interests for 

Plaintiffs and Defendants, 6 Hous. Bus. & Tax L.J 109, 111 (2005). To do this, 

they chose methods of imposing greater accountability on those involved in 

market fraud. Id. at 112 (citing H.R. Rep. No. 73-1383, at 5 (1934) (“Society 

cannot afford to have individuals wield the power of thousands without 

personal responsibility.”)). One of those methods is control person liability. See 

generally id. However, dismissing a case under the culpable participant 

standard undermines Congress’ goal of protecting the public from securities 

fraud. 

Having been dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure, there was no opportunity for discovery by FMRF or TRSF in the 

present case. Therefore, it would be unfair to require respondents to prove 

culpability, a detail-oriented claim, without that crucial phase of detail finding. 

This is because “it would be extremely difficult to know facts where the 

controlling person was hiding behind the controlled person . . . .” Newby v. 

Enron Corp. (In re Enron Corp. Secs.), 2003 U.S. Dist. Lexis 1668 at *44 (S.D. 

Tex. 2003). This Court would alleviate that injustice by rejecting the heightened 

pleading standard, leaving it to the defendant to prove that they were acting in 

good faith after discovery. By doing this, plaintiffs would get their day in court 

while innocent defendants would be removed at an early stage of the trial, such 

as summary judgement. This would bolster confidence in the securities system 

and remove the threat of Section 20(a) acting as insurer’s liability. See 
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Rhoades, 527 F.2d at 885 (observing that Congress did not intend for innocent 

parties to be liable for the fraudulent activities of another). 

For these reasons, Respondents asks that this Court Reject the culpable 

participant element, in favor of the affirmative defense written into the explicit 

language of Section 20(a) and the intent it is derived from. 

CONCLUSION 

 For the reasons set forth above, the Respondents respectfully request 

that the judgement of the Circuit Court of Fordham be Affirmed. 
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